STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

RECEIVED

07-11-2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 2016-AP-406

MICHAEL CHOUGH, Defendant-Appellant. Kenosha County Circuit Court Case No. 2012-CT-159

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL TO REVIEW A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDERS OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR KENOSHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MARY KAY WAGNER PRESIDING

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

ANTHONY D. COTTON State Bar No. 1055106 Kuchler & Cotton, S.C. 1535 E. Racine Avenue PO Box 527 Waukesha, Wisconsin 53186 Tel: (262) 542-4218 Fax: (262) 542-1993 Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

PAGE

TABLE OF	AUTHORITIES	iii

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Was Mr. Chough illegally arrested without the required quantum of probable cause?

Circuit Court's answer: No.

2. Did the State meet its burden to establish the admissibility of the State's proffered expert testimony regarding retrograde extrapolation?

Circuit Court's answer: Yes.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Chough anticipates that the parties' briefs will "fully present and meet the issues on appeal and fully develop the theories and legal authorities on each side so that oral argument would be of such marginal value that it does not justify the additional expenditure of court time or cost to the litigant." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.22. The present case is not eligible for publication. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(b)(4).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Kenosha County Sheriff's Deputy Eric Klinkhammer testified for the State on two separate occasions in this case. The first occasion was at a June 13, 2012, hearing on Mr. Chough's motion to suppress evidence on grounds that he was arrested without probable cause. (R.67). The second occasion was at Mr. Chough's jury trial on June 9, 2015. (R.81). Deputy Klinkhammer was the State's only witness at the motion hearing, and, according to his testimony at that hearing, on February 26, 2012, sometime between 6:00 A.M. and 7:00 A.M., (R.67:11.13-14), he proceeded to a trailer park after receiving information that a man was trying to find shelter there. (R.67:4.12-15). At some earlier time, Deputy Mark Malecki, "had called out a vehicle in the ditch" near a freeway off ramp. (R.67:4.11-12).

Deputy Klinkhammer testified at the motion hearing that when he first made contact with Mr. Chough, the appellant was in the driveway of a trailer in the trailer court. (R.67:5.11). Deputy Klinkhammer claimed to notice Mr. Chough exhibiting "slightly thick tongue sounding speech," an odor of intoxicants, and an "unsteady gait." (R.67:5.12-14). Upon speaking with Mr. Chough, Deputy Klinkhammer learned that Mr. Chough had visited his brother in Chicago and had fallen asleep while driving. (R.67:5.20-24). Mr. Chough admitted to drinking an unspecified amount of alcohol the night before, (R.67:15.8-10), but stated that he did not "drink a lot." (R.67:17.1-3). Deputy Klinkhammer did not ask how long the vehicle had been in the ditch. (R.67:16.6-8)

Deputy Klinkhammer asked Mr. Chough to complete field sobriety tests, and Mr. Chough "asked if he could talk to his attorney." (R.67:7.13-22). Deputy Klinkhammer attempted to have Mr. Chough complete field sobriety tests again, and Mr. Chough asked if he could speak with an attorney first. (R.67:20). Mr. Chough was then arrested, (R.67:9.4-7), and Deputy Klinkhammer never asked Mr. Chough to submit to a preliminary breath test ("PBT") prior to his arrest. (R.67:18.7.8).

At the June 13, 2012 motion hearing, Mr. Chough called three residents of Oakwood Estates as witnesses, all of whom had spoken with Mr. Chough on the

morning of February 26, 2012. One of those residents was Patricia Schumacher, who testified that on the morning in question she had contact with Mr. Chough and did not notice any signs of intoxication throughout their interaction. (R.67:27.6-23). Ms. Schumacher also testified that she had the opportunity to observe Mr. Chough walking between her trailer and another trailer, and nothing about his walking was unusual. (R.67:27.3-8). Another Oakwood Estates resident, Robert Lichter, testified that he had contact with Mr. Chough that morning and that Mr. Chough was "very polite" and did not appear to be intoxicated or suffering from any issues with his balance. (R.67:33-34).

The final Oakwood Estates resident who testified at the motion hearing was Danny Anderson. Mr. Anderson testified that he had been employed as a Deputy Sheriff for 10 years, and had undergone extensive training in the detection of intoxicated persons. (R.67:41.23-42.9). Mr. Anderson testified that he watched Mr. Chough walk toward him from approximately 25 yards away, and that there was nothing "unusual" or "unsteady" about his gait. (R.67:41.3-9). Mr. Anderson also testified that he allowed Mr. Chough to sit in Mr. Anderson's pickup truck with him to get warm, and that although he did detect a "faint" odor of alcohol on Mr. Chough's breath, Mr. Chough "was talking pretty normal" and was not exhibiting thick tongued speech. (R.67:42.12). Mr. Anderson further testified that he believed that Mr. Chough "was not intoxicated" when he spoke with him. (R.67:44.9).

Mr. Chough's jury trial occurred on June 8 and June 9, 2015. According to his testimony at Mr. Chough's jury trial, on February 26, 2012, at approximately 6:40 A.M., Deputy Malecki was on patrol traveling northbound on I-94 when he happened upon a vehicle that had left the roadway and come to a stop in a ditch. (R.81:29.1-6). The vehicle was empty, and appeared to have been exiting the freeway on the off ramp when it drifted from the ramp into the ditch, coming to a stop in the snow after striking a deer fence at a low rate of speed. (R.81:39.1-8). Dispatch contacted the registered owner of the vehicle, who stated that he knew nothing about the crash and that the vehicle would likely be operated by his son, Michael Chough. (R.81:30.10-21). Kelly Hempel, a dispatcher at Jensen Towing, testified at trial that she received a call from a Michael Chough at 6:03 A.M. on the morning of February 26, 2012, requesting a tow truck. (R.81:60). A tow truck arrived, and dispatch advised that someone from Oakdale Estates, a nearby trailer park, called to report that "a subject was knocking on doors and attempting to find a place to rest." (R.81:31.6-11).

Oakwood Estates resident Patricia Schumacher testified at trial that she had contact with Mr. Chough on the morning in question, and that he did not appear to be drunk. (R.81:72.16-20). Oakwood Estates resident Danny Anderson also testified that he interacted with Mr. Chough that morning and that Mr. Chough "wasn't intoxicated at that time" (R.81:82.16-17).

Deputy Malecki testified that he traveled from the scene of the accident to Oakwood Estates and, after speaking with the resident of Lot 95, proceeded to Lot

119, where he observed Mr. Anderson and Mr. Chough standing in the driveway. (R.81:32.25-33.5). Deputy Malecki made contact with Mr. Chough in the driveway and, according to Deputy Malecki, upon asking if his name was Michael, Mr. Chough responded by stating, "Yes, I'm not going to lie, I've been drinking." (R.81:33.19-25). Deputy Malecki stated that he detected an odor of intoxicants coming from Mr. Chough's breath, and noticed that Mr. Chough had "glassy eyes." (R.81:34.6-13). Deputy Malecki asked if anyone else was in the car, and Mr. Chough replied that "there was no one else." (R.81:34.19-22). According to Deputy Malecki, Mr. Chough had no trouble standing still, was not observed losing his balance or swaying, and answered questions politely and appropriately. (R.81:46.3-23). Deputy Malecki then began speaking with Mr. Anderson, a resident of Lot 119, while Deputy Klinkhammer "took over speaking with Mr. Chough." (R.81:35.5-7).

Deputy Klinkhammer testified at trial that when he first saw Mr. Chough on the morning of February 26, 2012, Mr. Chough was at Oakdale Estates, in the driveway of Lot 119, speaking with Deputy Malecki. (R.81:100.15-20). Prior to speaking with Mr. Chough, Deputy Klinkhammer did not speak with any residents of the trailer park. (R.81:122.18-22). Deputy Klinkhammer testified that his contact with Mr. Chough occurred sometime after 7:00 A.M., (R.81:102.3-6), and claimed at trial that Mr. Chough's speech was "like thick-tongued and drunk sounding." (R.81:101.12-14). According to Deputy Klinkhammer, Mr. Chough stated that he had visited his brother in Chicago the night before and "fell asleep

while he was driving." (R.81:101.18-21). Mr. Chough had also told Deputy Klinkhammer that he had consumed "a little bit" of alcohol the night before. (R.81:101.24-102.2).

Deputy Klinkhammer testified that at no point in his interaction with Mr. Chough did he observe any stumbling, falling, or problems maintaining balance. (R.81:125.12-126.2). Deputy Klinkhammer also testified that he did not know when the car accident took place or how long Mr. Chough may have stayed in the vehicle after the accident, (R.81:134.4-6), and never saw Mr. Chough walk from the vehicle to Oakwood Estates. (R.81:127.24-128.1). Deputy Klinkhammer escorted Mr. Chough to the front of his squad car and ordered Mr. Chough to complete field sobriety tests. (R.81:102-103). In response, Mr. Chough asked if he could speak with a lawyer. (R.81:131.17-21). Instead, Mr. Chough was arrested and transported to the hospital, where he consented to a legal blood draw. (R.81:104.3-7). The reported result of the testing of his blood sample by the Kenosha County Department of Human Services, Division of Health, was .094 grams of ethanol per 100 milliliters of blood. (R.81:184.23-185.1)

CASE HISTORY

A criminal complaint filed on February 27, 2012, charged Mr. Chough with Operating a Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated – 3rd Offense. (R.1). An amended complaint filed on July 18, 2014, added a charge of Operating With Prohibited Alcohol Concentration – 3rd Offense. (R.31, App.1). As discussed above, Mr. Chough filed a "Notice of Motion and Motion to Suppress Evidence, No Probable

Cause," on April 10, 2012. (R.4, App.4). That motion was denied by the circuit court at a hearing held on June 13, 2012 (R.67, App.10). A "Notice of Motion and Motion to Suppress Statements," filed on August 13, 2012 (R.12), was denied by the circuit court at a hearing held on October 15, 2012 (R.69).¹

At the conclusion of that hearing, a jury trial was scheduled for March 11, 2013. The trial was subsequently adjourned to June 24, 2013, adjourned again to November 18, 2013, and adjourned again to March 24, 2014. Upon Mr. Chough's filing of a "Motion to Preclude State From Relying Upon the Statutory Presumptions Concerning the Admissibility of Blood Test Result" at the jury status hearing held on March 6, 2014 (R.23), the trial was adjourned again to July 28, 2014. At the hearing held on that motion on April 17, 2014 (R.72), Assistant District Attorney Jennifer Phan agreed that the State would be required to present expert testimony to establish the probative value of the blood test result. (R.72:3.17-22).

At the jury status hearing held on July 17, 2014 (R.74), the State, by Assistant District Attorney Zachary Wittchow, filed a "Notice of Motion and Motion to Reconsider the Issue of the Statutory Presumption Concerning Admissibility of Blood Test Results." (R.29). The circuit court denied that motion at a hearing held on July 22, 2014 (R.75). However, because the Amended

¹ Mr. Chough does not challenge that decision in this appeal.

Criminal Complaint (R.31), as well as the State's Amended List of Witnesses and Demand For Discovery (R.33), had only been filed the Friday before that Tuesday hearing, the trial was adjourned again to November 10, 2014. The trial was subsequently adjourned again to February 2, 2015 (see R.40 and 41).

As discussed below, Mr. Chough learned on the morning of February 2, 2015, that the State intended to introduce retrograde extrapolation testimony at trial, and so the trial was adjourned again to June 8, 2015. Mr. Chough's "Motion to Exclude Testimony of Carlton Cowie," filed on April 27, 2015 (R.47, App.26), and the denial of that motion is discussed in great detail below. Mr. Chough was found guilty at trial on June 9, 2015 (see R.54 and 55), and sentenced to 45 days jail (*see* R.56). He filed a Notice of Intent to Pursue Post-Conviction Relief on June 15, 2015 (R.60), and a Notice of Appeal on February 24, 2016 (R.65, App.59).

ARGUMENT

For the following two independent reasons, Mr. Chough's conviction in the present case cannot stand.

I. STANDARDS OF REVIEW.

When reviewing a circuit court's denial of a motion to suppress evidence, this Court upholds a circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Grady*, 2009 WI 47, ¶ 13, 317 Wis. 2d 344, 352, 766 N.W.2d 729, 733. However, whether such findings of fact establish probable cause to

arrest is a questions of law that this Court reviews independently. *State v. Phillips*, 2009 WI App 179, ¶ 6, 322 Wis. 2d 576, 585, 778 N.W.2d 157, 161-62.

"The determination of whether a witness is qualified to testify as an expert under [Wis. Stat. §] 907.02 is a matter within the discretion of the circuit court." *Green v. Smith & Nephew AHP, Inc.*, 2001 WI 109, ¶ 89, 245 Wis. 2d 772, 833, 629 N.W.2d 727, 756 (citing *Glassey v. Continental Ins. Co.*, 176 Wis. 2d 587, 608, 500 N.W.2d 295, 304 (1993)). This Court sustains such determinations "so long as the circuit court examined the facts of record, applied a proper legal standard and, using a rational process, reached a reasonable conclusion." *Id*.

II. BECAUSE IT IS UNKNOWN WHEN MR. CHOUGH OPERATED A MOTOR VEHICLE, THE STATE DID NOT MEET ITS BURDEN OF DEMONSTRATING PROBABLE CAUSE TO ARREST HIM FOR OPERATING A MOTOR VEHICLE WHILE INTOXICATED, AND THE CIRCUIT COURT'S RULING SHOULD BE REVERSED.

The circuit court's denial of Mr. Chough's motion to suppress for lack of probable cause to arrest should be reversed. At the motion hearing held on June 13, 2012, the State failed to meet its burden of demonstrating that probable cause existed to justify Mr. Chough's arrest for operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated. The facts of the present case are unusual. The record from the motion hearing reveals that law enforcement did little to investigate when Mr. Chough may have operated a motor vehicle, and the State offered little to no evidence establishing when Mr. Chough may have operated the vehicle.

Mr. Chough was never observed operating a motor vehicle by law enforcement. No witnesses reported that Mr. Chough was observed operating a vehicle. The only evidence offered by the State at the motion hearing to show that Mr. Chough operated a motor vehicle was Mr. Chough's purported statement to law enforcement that he had fallen asleep while driving. Deputy Klinkhammer was the only witness to testify for the State, and he never investigated when Mr. Chough may have operated a vehicle. Deputy Klinkhammer testified at the motion hearing that he did not know when he responded to the scene, and could only estimate that he had contact with Mr. Chough sometime between 6:00 AM and 7:00 AM. The State presented no evidence from which one could determine when Mr. Chough operated a motor vehicle, or even develop a rough estimate of what time Mr. Chough may have operated an automobile. Without evidence that Mr. Chough operated a motor vehicle close in time to his interaction with law enforcement, Deputy Klinkhammer's observations of Mr. Chough lack any probative value in any OWI investigation, and fail to establish probable cause to arrest Mr. Chough for operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated.

A warrantless arrest is unlawful unless it is supported by probable cause. *State v. Blatterman*, 2015 WI 46, ¶ 34, 362 Wis. 2d 138, 164, 864 N.W.2d 26, 38 (citing *State v. Lange*, 2009 WI 49, ¶ 19, 317 Wis. 2d 383, 391, 766 N.W.2d 551, 555). Probable cause to arrest an individual for operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated "refers to that quantum of evidence within the arresting officer's knowledge at the time of the arrest that would lead a reasonable law enforcement officer to believe that the defendant was operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant." *Lange*, ¶ 19, 317 Wis. 2d at 391-92, 766 N.W.2d at

555. The State bears the burden of showing that probable cause to arrest existed at the time of arrest. *Id.*, ¶ 19, 317 Wis. 2d at 392, 766 N.W.2d at 555.

In determining whether probable cause exists, Wisconsin courts "examine the totality of the circumstances and consider whether the police officer had 'facts and circumstances within his or her knowledge sufficient to warrant a reasonable person to conclude that the defendant . . . committed or [was] in the process of committing an offense." *Blatterman*, ¶ 35, 362 Wis. 2d at 164, 864 N.W.2d at 38 (alteration in original) (quoting *State v. Richardson*, 156 Wis. 2d 128, 148, 456 N.W.2d 830, 838 (1990)).

Probable cause to arrest is a high standard that requires information sufficient to lead a reasonable officer to believe that a defendant's guilt is more than a mere possibility. *Id.*, ¶ 35, 362 Wis. 2d at 164-65, 864 N.W.2d at 38 (quoting *Village of Elkhart Lake v. Borzyskowski*, 123 Wis. 2d 185, 189, 366 N.W.2d 506, 508 (Ct. App. 1985)). Probable cause is determined on a casespecific basis, and the "quantum of information which constitutes probable cause to arrest must be measured by the facts of the particular case." *State v. Paszek*, 50 Wis. 2d 619, 625, 184 N.W.2d 836, 840 (1971) (citing *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471 (1963)).

At the motion hearing held on June 13, 2012, Deputy Eric Klinkhammer testified to the information he gathered prior to making the decision to arrest Mr. Chough for operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated. At the time of Mr. Chough's arrest, Deputy Klinkhammer had been told that "[a] vehicle was in the

ditch at KR and the interstate on the off ramp." (67:4.11-12). He had also been told that "there was no driver in the vehicle." (67:4.16.17). He had also learned that "a subject was trying to find shelter" at a nearby trailer park. (67:4.21-23). No one made any claim that the subject appeared to be intoxicated. (67:12.6-8). Deputy Klinkhammer testified that he didn't know at what time he responded to the trailer park area, nor did he know "what time the original call was." (67:11.14-15). Instead, he estimated that he made contact with Mr. Chough in the "early morning" somewhere around "six, seven o'clock." (67:11.13-14). When Deputy Klinkhammer arrived, Mr. Chough was being escorted to the end of a driveway in the trailer park by another deputy. (67:13.11-13).

Deputy Klinkhammer claimed that while being escorted to the end of the driveway, Mr. Chough exhibited an "unsteady gait." (67:13.17-20). Mr. Chough was not observed by Deputy Klinkhammer to trip, fall over, or use any person or object to help himself maintain balance. (67:14.2-8). Deputy Klinkhammer's observations of Mr. Chough's "unsteady gait" were not corroborated by Patricia Schumacher (67:27), Robert Lichter (67:33), or Danny Anderson (67:41), three citizen witnesses who had contact with Mr. Chough in the trailer park on the morning in question, all of whom testified at the motion hearing that Mr. Chough did not appear to be unsteady or intoxicated. There is no evidence that Deputy Klinkhammer spoke with any residents of the trailer park about their interactions with Mr. Chough before making the decision to arrest him for operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated.

According to Deputy Klinkhammer, Mr. Chough also "smelled of intoxicants" and had "slightly thick tongue sounding speech." (67:5.13-14). Mr. Chough admitted to driving the vehicle and stated that he had fallen asleep during the accident. (67:5.20-24). Deputy Klinkhammer observed that "the odor of intoxicants got stronger as [Mr. Chough] spoke." (67:6.14). Mr. Chough stated that he had consumed an unspecified amount of alcohol the night before while visiting his brother in Chicago. (67:5.20-23). Deputy Klinkhammer never asked Mr. Chough what he had to drink, or when he had his first or last drink, but Mr. Chough did explain that he had not had a lot to drink the night before. (67:16.25-17-3).

At no time during his interaction with Mr. Chough did Deputy Klinkhammer ask what time the accident occurred, and the transcript of the motion hearing reveals that no effort was made by law enforcement to determine when Mr. Chough actually operated the vehicle. (67:16). Following some very brief questioning, Deputy Klinkhammer asked Mr. Chough to perform field sobriety tests. (67:7.13-14). Mr. Chough asked if he could speak with an attorney first. (67:7.20-22). Although Deputy Klinkhammer was in possession of a preliminary breath testing device at the time, he never asked Mr. Chough to submit to a PBT. (67:18.2-8). Mr. Chough never refused to perform field sobriety tests, but he did ask if he could speak with an attorney. (67:20.17-21). Mr. Chough was then arrested. (67:9.4-5).

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