# **RECEIVED**

STATE OF WISCONSIN 07-12-2016 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN** 

CASE NO. 2016AP406

State of Wisconsin,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Michael Chough,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR KENOSHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MARY WAGNER, PRESIDING CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 2012CT000159

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

#### SUBMITTED BY:

Jennifer A. Phan ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY STATE BAR NO. 1059537 OFFICE OF THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY 912 56<sup>TH</sup> STREET MOLINARO BUILDING KENOSHA, WI 53140 (262) 653-2400

#

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

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. Standard of Review

In reviewing a denial of a motion to suppress, the Court of Appeals upholds the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous or contrary to the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence.

State v. Young, 212 Wis. 2d 417, 424, 569 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1997; State v. Allen, 226 Wis. 2d 66, 70, 593 N.W. 2d 504 (Ct. App. 1999). Whether the facts satisfy the constitutional requirement of reasonableness is a question of law and should be reviewed de novo. Id. The appellate court values a trial court's decision on the question.

Scheunemann v. City of West Bend, 179 Wis. 2d 469, 475, 507 N.W.2d 163 (Ct. App. 1993).

"The determination of whether a witness is qualified to testify as an expert under [Wis.Stat. §] 907.02 is a matter within the discretion of the circuit court." Green v. Smith & Nephew AHP, INC., 2001 WI 109, ¶89, 245 Wis. 2d 772, 833, 629 N.W.2d 727, 756 (citing Glassey v. Continental Ins. Co., 176 Wis. 2d 587, 608, 500 N.W.2d 295,

304 (1993)). The Wisconsin Supreme Court noted that on review, the court will sustain the circuit court's discretionary determination so long as the circuit court examined the facts of record, applied a proper legal standard and, using a rational process, reached a reasonable conclusion. *Id*.

# II. The Deputies Had Probable Cause to Arrest the Defendant for Operating While Intoxicated Offense.

Where there is no unlawful conduct, a stop may be justified based on observations of lawful conduct so long as the reasonable inferences drawn from the lawful conduct indicate that criminal activity is afoot. **See State v.**Waldner, 206 Wis.2d 51, 57, 556 N.W.2d 681, 684-85 (1996).

Whether an officer had reasonable suspicion is an objective test and the suspicion must be "grounded in specific, articulable facts and reasonable inferences from those facts....". *Id.* at 56, 556 N.W.2d at 684 (citation omitted). The focus is on the totality of the circumstances, not individual facts standing alone. *See Id.* at 58, 556 N.W.2d at 685. There are specific articulable facts that demonstrate that the defendant either was driving while intoxicated or was violating a traffic law.

Whether an officer had reasonable suspicion is an objective test and the suspicion must be "grounded in

specific, articulable facts and reasonable inferences from those facts....". **See State v. Waldner**, 206 Wis.2d 51, 56, 556 N.W.2d 681, 684 (1996) (citation omitted). The focus is on the totality of the circumstances, not individual facts standing alone. **See Id.** at 58, 556 N.W.2d at 685.

Under the totality of the circumstances test, Deputies Klinkhammer and Malecki had reasonable suspicion for a number of reasons such as a car in a ditch that hit a fence, an individual nearby seeking shelter in the cold in proximity to the crash, early time of morning, the defendant having an unsteady gait, smelling of intoxicants and had slightly thick tongued speech. (Suppression R:5.

11-14). These specific articulable facts demonstrate that the defendant could likely be violating a traffic law.

Considering the totality of the circumstances, an objective officer would have reasonable suspicion to detain the defendant.

[S]uspicious conduct by its very nature is ambiguous, and the [principal] function of the investigative stop is to quickly resolve that ambiguity. Therefore, if any reasonable inference of wrongful conduct can be objectively discerned, notwithstanding the existence of other innocent inferences that could be drawn, the officers have the right to temporarily detain the individual for the purpose of inquiry.

State v. Anderson, 155 Wis.2d 77, 84, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990). This was the totality of the information available to Deputies Klinkhammer and Malecki at the time. Officers are allowed to arrest individuals based on probable cause to believe that they committed a crime. Wis. Stat. 968.07(1)(d).

"[T]he term "probable cause," according to its usual acceptation, means less than evidence which would justify condemnation. " Zalaski v. City of Hartford 723 F.3d 382, 392; (quoting Locke v. United States, 11 U.S. 339, 7 Cranch 339, 348, 3 L.Ed. 364 (1813) (Marshall, C.J.))).

The Wisconsin Supreme Court held in State v. Paszek:

Probable cause to arrest refers to that quantum of evidence which would lead reasonable police officer to believe that the defendant probably committed a crime. It is not necessary that the evidence giving rise to such probable cause be sufficient to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, nor must it be sufficient to prove that guilt is more probable than not. It is only necessary lead a reasonable the information officer to believe that guilt is more than a possibility, and it is well established that the belief may be predicated in part upon hearsay information. The quantum information which constitutes probable cause to arrest must be measured by the facts of the particular case.

50 Wis. 2d 619, 624-25, 184 N.W.2d 836, 839-40 (1971) (citations omitted).

A trial court is in the best position to decide the weight and relevancy of testimony and an appellate court must give substantial deference to the trial court's better ability to assess the evidence. In re Deannia D., 288 Wis. 2d 485, 494, 709 N.W.2d 879 (Ct. App. 2005). (citations omitted). Here, the only witness at the evidentiary hearing presented by the State was Deputy Klinkhammer. The trial court did not explicitly state that it found Deputy Klinkhammer credible at the suppression hearing on June 13, 2012, but the trial court's ruling accepts Deputy Klinkhammer's observations of the defendant as fact. trial court found that the defendant, "[W]as not in custody, that he was not threatened or coerced in any manner to answer the questions, that a reasonable person wouldn't have considered themselves to be in custody at the time." (Suppression R:26. 10-15).

It is clear by the testimony at the suppression hearing by Deputy Klinkhammer, a veteran of the Kenosha Sheriff's Department of 19 years, that there was a reported accident of a vehicle in the ditch that hit a fence, "a quarter mile, if that" from a trailer court. (R:24. 3-11). Deputy Klinkhammer made contact with an individual, identified as the defendant, that was trying to seek shelter at the trailer court by knocking on multiple

resident's doors. (R:4. 11-23). The defendant had called for a tow truck, but never called for police assistance. (R:24. 20-24). At this point in the investigation, based on the totality of the circumstances Deputy Klinkhammer had reasonable suspicion to believe that the defendant was involved in a traffic violation.

Deputy Klinkhammer clearly indicated that after making contact with the defendant at the trailer park, defendant's gait was unsteady, he smelled of intoxicants and had slightly thick tongued speech. (R:5. 11-14). Deputy Klinkhammer testified that based on his training experience that he believed that the defendant was possibly intoxicated. (R:5. 15-17). Deputy Klinkhammer went on to describe his training in detecting impaired drivers at his initial training, continual refresher trainings every two years in-service, being or three at an intoximeter operator, as well as coming into contact with impaired drivers throughout the course of his career. (R:6. 18-25). Throughout his testimony, Deputy Klinkhammer explained that the defendant admitted to driving the vehicle that was in the ditch, admitted to drinking, but stated he had fallen asleep during the accident. (R:6 1-9). It was based on the this information that totality of Deputy Klinkhammer testified that he, based on his training and experience,

formed an opinion as to whether the defendant was impaired. (R:7. 5). After the defendant refused to perform Standard Sobriety Tests, Deputy Klinkhammer Field then had sufficient probable cause to place the defendant under arrest for Operating While Intoxicated. (R:9). probable cause [to arrest] exists if either (a) it was objectively reasonable for the officer to believe that probable cause existed, or (b) officers of reasonable competence could disagree on whether the probable cause test was met." Zalaski v. City of Hartford, 723 F.3d 382, 390 (2d Cir.2013). (internal quotation marks omitted)). Probable cause to arrest an individual for operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated:

[R]efers to that quantum of evidence within the arresting officer's knowledge at the time of the arrest that would lead a reasonable law enforcement officer to believe that the defendant was operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant.

State v. Lange, 317 Wis.2d 383, 391-92, 766 N.W.2d 551,555.

At the suppression hearing, the defense called three of the trailer park residents. The first, Patricia Schumacher testified that an Asian male had knocked on her door one morning. Ms. Schumacher stated she asked him what he wanted and "he didn't answer. I asked again and he didn't answer, so I told him to go away and I closed the

door and called the sheriff." (R:27. 1-2). Ms. Schumacher further testified that the defendant looked cold as it was freezing outside. (R:27. 8-10). Ms. Schumacher testified that she did not smell alcohol, but that the defendant was some distance away from her, approximately four feet away and through a cracked door. (R:29. 12-20). Ms. Schumacher also testified that she was not staring at the defendant's eyes to see if they were bloodshot in addition to the fact that she had just woken up and was still sleepy. (R:30. 4-11).

Robert Lichter was the second witness to testify for the defense at the suppression hearing. Mr. Lichter testified the defendant knocked on his door and asked if he could get warm. (R:33. 6-11). Mr. Lichter explained he only opened the inside door, leaving his storm door closed. (R:33. 9). Mr. Lichter testified that he did not pay much attention to the defendant because his wife was sick, having troubles and he wanted to go. (R:34. 3-17). Mr. Lichter testified the defendant talked about going into a ditch and was waiting for a tow truck. (R:37. 13-19).

Danny Anderson, a previous sheriff in Hampton, Virginia for almost 9 years, was the third witness for the defense at the suppression motion. **See** (R:41). Mr. Anderson testified that it was "chilly out" while he was

outside having a cigarette. (R:39. 13-15). Mr. Anderson saw the defendant walking towards him. The defendant stated he had an accident and was cold, looking for a place to warm up. (R:40. 22-24). Mr. Anderson indicated he had previous training in observing signs of intoxication. (R:41. 23-24). Mr. Anderson testified he could detect a faint odor of alcohol on the defendant's breath, his pupils looked a little dilated, slurred a couple of words and stumbled as he walked. (R:42-44). Despite this, Mr. Anderson testified concluded the defendant appeared t.hat. he not to be intoxicated. (R:44. 9).

Two of the three defense witnesses did not have training in detecting signs of intoxication. However, Mr. Anderson, a former sheriff and Deputy Klinkhammer, both of who have training and experience in detecting signs of impairment, may have disagreed on the ultimate conclusion, but testified that the defendant had an odor of alcohol on breath/smelled of intoxicants, stumbled walked/gait was unsteady, and slurred speech/thick lounged speech. Mr. Anderson testified to the additional fact of the defendant's pupils looking a little dilated as well. Deputies Klinkhammer and Malecki had sufficient probable arrest the defendant cause to for Operating While Intoxicated based on the totality of the circumstances

known to them at the time believing, as reasonable officers, that a crime had been committed. "Probable cause exists if at the time of the arrest, the facts within the officer's knowledge circumstances sufficient to warrant a prudent person, or reasonable caution, in believing, in the circumstances shown, that the suspect has committed, is committing, or is about to commit an offense." Thayer v. Chiczewski, 705 F.3d 237, 246 (7th Cir.2012) (citations and quotations omitted). Probable cause "requires only that a probability or substantial chance of criminal activity exists; it does not require the existence of criminal activity to be more likely true than not true." Id. (citations and quotations omitted). "Probable cause is a fluid concept that relies on the common-sense judgment of the officers based on the totality of the circumstances." Id. at 246-47 (citations and quotations omitted). Making a determination on probable cause requires the court to step into the shoes of a reasonable person in the officer's position. Id. at 247. "This is an objective inquiry; [the court does] not consider the subjective motivations of the officer." Id.

This Court upheld a circuit court's finding of probable cause to arrest for operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated when a defendant was not seen driving the

motor vehicle after a crash and admission by the driver at the hospital of, "I have to quit doing this." State v Wille, 185 Wis. 2d 673, 518 N.W.2d 325 (Ct. App. 1994). This Court held under the totality of the circumstances test that law enforcement did have probable cause to arrest. Id. at 684. Very similarly in our case, the defendant was involved in a car accident, made self-admissions, and was found in a separate location from the vehicle. In addition in our case, the deputies had the additional information of watching the defendant walk with an unsteady gait and smelling "like a brewery". (Suppression R:15. 15-17).

A reasonable police officer can reasonably conclude that an individual that admitted to drinking, driving, and crashing his vehicle and only calling for assistance from a tow truck, not the police, probably committed a crime. See State v. Paszek, 50 Wis. 2d 619, 624-25, 184 N.W.2d 836, 839-40 (1971) (citations omitted). This is in addition to the other factors known to the deputies at the time of the defendant's arrest: defendant's gait was unsteady, he smelled of intoxicants and had slightly thick tongued Deputy Klinkhammer testified that speech. (R.5). defendant "[S]melled like a brewery," and had a "[T]ypical walk". (R:13-15). Based intoxicated person on these

factors, the deputies had probable cause to arrest the defendant for operating while intoxicated.

# III. The State Met Its Burden to Establish the Admissibility of the Proffered Expert Testimony Regarding Retrograde Extrapolation.

A trial court using the Daubert standard must still qualify a witness to testify about the evidence at issue. If the testimony is predicated upon specialized knowledge, the witness is considered an expert, and the testimony is controlled by Wis. Stat. § 907.02. witnesses must, of course, assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue. Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1). In addition, the witness must be qualified to testify as an expert based on knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education. Id. The expert may testify as to an opinion if the testimony is based on sufficient facts or data, the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case. Id.

The Daubert Court outlined a number of factors to consider when making determination whether the witness is qualified to give his or her opinion regarding such testimony. Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,

509 U.S. 579, 592-93 (1993). In addition, a trial court must also consider the means of making its determination by conducting a hearing, statutory review, or like in our case, judicial notice. **See Id.** 

Courts must assess whether the reasoning or methodology underlying the testimony is scientifically valid, as well as whether the reasoning or methodology properly can be applied to the facts at issue. *Id.* The Court outlined the following factors to be used in making such an assessment.

First, whether the theory or technique can be (and has been) tested. Id. This factor incorporates the fundamental concept of scientific methodology, which is based generating hypotheses and testing them. Id. Second, whether the theory or technique has been subjected to peer review and publication. Id. Publication, by itself, does not stand as a requirement to admissibility because some innovative theories may not have gotten to the publication stage. Third, whether a particular scientific technique has a known or potential rate of error, as well as any existence and maintenance of standards controlling the technique's Fourth, whether there is a "general operation. Id. acceptance" within the scientific community of the theory The consideration of widespread technique. Id. or

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